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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN

Applicant
:
Mr G Dossett

Scheme
:
The Gallup Organisation Limited Retirement Benefits Scheme

Trustees
:
The Law Debenture Pension Trust Corporation plc (Law Debenture)

Mr TS Davey

Mrs P Buckle

MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION (dated 6 November 2002)

1. Mr Dossett retired in June 1998.  In July 2001 Mr Dossett was informed by the Trustees that his pension was to be reduced because of irregularities concerning an enhancement he had received.  Mr Dossett’s benefits had been calculated by reference to a normal retirement age of 60 rather than 65 (the retirement age specified in the Scheme Rules) and his final pensionable salary had not been reduced by the relevant basic state pension.  The Trustees say that this enhancement had not been implemented correctly at the time.

2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of facts or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

MATERIAL FACTS

Trust Deed and Rules

3. ‘Normal Retiring Date’ is defined as,

“ the 65th birthday for men and the 60th birthday for women or such other date as is agreed between the Member and the Trustees with the consent of the Employer.”

4. ‘Pensionable Earnings’ are defined as,

“…annual salary at the date of becoming a Member and thereafter at the Renewal Date in each year less an amount equal to the basic State Pension for a single person at that date…”

5. ‘Final Pensionable Earnings’ are defined as,

“…at the Normal Retiring Date or at any earlier date of calculation, as the case may be, means Pensionable Earnings averaged over the five year period… ending on 31 December immediately before the Normal retiring Date (or the appropriate earlier date)…”

6. Rule 4.1 provides,

“TRUSTEES
There shall not be less than three Trustees, except in case of emergency or if the Trustee is a corporate Trustee competent in law so to act…

The Trustees shall have and be entitled to exercise all powers, rights and privilege requisite or proper to enable them to carry out all or any transactions, acts, deeds or things arising under or in connection with the Scheme…

The Trustees shall exercise their powers and execute their duties under the Scheme by resolutions passed at meetings of the Trustees…

A majority of the Trustees surviving and resident in the United Kingdom and capable of acting shall be a quorum.  Questions arising at any meeting of Trustees shall be decided by a majority of votes and in the event of an inequality of votes the chairman of the meeting shall have a second of casting vote…”

7. Rule 4.3 provides,

“DELEGATION BY TRUSTEES
The Trustees with the approval of the Company may so far as is competent to them delegate to any one of their own number or to any secretary whom they may appoint (who may be one of their own number) such powers as they think fit… The Trustees shall also with the approval of the Company be entitled to appoint any other person or persons to be employed by them…”

8. Rule 4.15 provides,

“ADDITIONAL AND VOLUNTARY BENEFITS
(a) Subject to sections (c) to (e) below, the Trustees may with the consent of the Employer and having regard to any special circumstances increase all or any of the benefits payable under these Rules, provided that the approval of the Scheme under the Taxes Act will not be prejudiced.

(b) …

(c) …

(d) …

(e) Any benefits and contributions under this Rule will be in addition to the other benefits and contributions under these Rules.  They will be subject to and included in the application and calculation of the appropriate limitations…”

9. Rule 4.17 provides,

“ALTERATION BY TRUSTEES
The Trustees may at any time by Resolution or Deed and with the written consent of the Company alter all or any of the Rules provided that no such alteration will be made if it will result in –

(a) the benefits for any Member which in the opinion of the Trustees have been secured by contributions paid by the Member and the Employer before the date of such alterations being affected adversely;

(b) the main purpose of the Scheme ceasing to be provision of pensions for Members…

(c) any refund or payment of any of the monies or assets… to any Employer otherwise than on termination of the Scheme…

(d) an affect on any of the matters dealt with in Part III of the Pensions Act without the consent of the Occupational Pensions Board.”

Background

10. In 1993 Mr Dossett was a director and shareholder of Social Surveys (Gallup Poll) Limited (the Company).  Mr Dossett’s wife, Mr Mather and Mr Wybrow, together with their wives, and Mr Heald were also shareholders.  Mr Mather, Mr Wybrow, and Mr Heald were also directors of the Company.  In May 1994 Mr Dossett, Mr Mather and Mr Wybrow, together with their wives sold their shares to a wholly owned subsidiary of Gallup Inc., an American company.  Mr Heald sold his shares in June 1994.  The former directors were retained on service contracts, with the exception of Mr Heald who retired.  At this time Mr Mather was also a trustee of the Scheme, along with Mr Davey and Mrs Buckle.

The Sale of the Company

11. According to Mr Dossett’s solicitors, they were first contacted by Mr Dossett on 18 April 1994.  They say they have a record of providing some drafting on 25 April, which they think may be connected with the sale agreement and a fax from Gallup Inc.  dated 27 April 1994.  Mr Dossett is of the opinion that in early 1994 there had been some discussion about the possible sale of the Company but no agreement had been reached.

12. According to the Trustees, Mr Davey had been made aware by Mr Heald in February 1994 that the Company was being sold to an American company.  Mr Davey and Mrs Buckle say that, had they been aware of the proposed enhancement of Mr Dossett’s pension, they would have wished to consult with the new owners of the business.  They have provided a copy of a letter from the President International Operations, the Gallup Organisation, in which he says they were not aware of any enhancements nor were they consulted at the time.  He says that they would not have authorised any enhancements.

13. The Share Purchase Agreement dated 5 May 1994 provides that, since 31 December 1992,

“Except in the ordinary course of business, there has been no increase or other change made in the rate or nature of the compensation, including wages, salaries, bonuses and benefits under employee benefit plans which have been paid, or will be paid or payable, by the Company to any of its directors, officers or key employees, or to any person which is an heir, ascendant, or descendant of any such officer, director or key employee.”

14. The Trustees argue that this suggests that negotiations on the sale of the business had begun before February 1994.

Correspondence prior to 1998

15. On 26 May 1993, the Trustees’ financial advisers, CE Heath Financial Services Ltd (Heath), wrote to the Company Secretary, Mr Meghji, explaining that, as the Scheme was well funded, they had requested quotations to improve the retirement packages for Messrs Mather, Heald, Dossett, Wybrow and Meghji.  They suggested either reducing the pension age to 60 or increasing pensions in payment by 3% or 5% p.a.  Heath also wrote to Mr Mather on the same day again saying that the Scheme was well funded and that they would shortly be able to make some suggestions as to how benefits might be improved for senior personnel.  On 2 June 1993 Heath wrote to Scottish Widows asking them to advise on the funding implications of reducing the retirement age to 60 for Mr Wybrow, Mr Dossett, Mr Meghji, Mr Mather and Mr Heald.

16. Scottish Widows wrote to Heath on 22 June 1993 explaining that the last full funding investigation had shown that the Scheme had a surplus of £425,000.  They said that a brief funding check carried out in January 1993 had suggested that the surplus had increased to approximately £450,000.  Scottish Widows enclosed a ‘Statement to the Trustees’ detailing the funding implications of the possible improvements.  The Statement assumed that the directors would still receive a 2/3rds pension if their retirement age was reduced to 60.  A range of future funding rates was quoted; from 4.6% for no improvements to 14.3% for a reduction in the retirement age together with increases to pensions in payment of 5% p.a.  The Statement also mentioned that the Trustees would have to consider the impact of the Social Security Act 1990 and the ECJ ‘Barber’ judgement on equalisation.

17. On 3 August 1993 Heath wrote to Scottish Widows,

“…it would be appreciated if you would confirm what problems, if any, Gallup will face following the Social Security Act 1990 and the equalisation changes mentioned in your correspondence.

It is more than likely the intention of the 4 Directors and Mr Meghji to retire early, and in view of this do you feel that the fund is well funded enough to bear a reduction in retirement age to 60? Are there any other problems of which you are aware that would make such a recommendation in appropriate?”

18. Scottish Widows referred Heath to the funding investigation they had produced in December 1992, and the Statements to the Trustees in May and June 1993.  Heath wrote to Scottish Widows again on 18 October 1993 asking, among other things, what the effect would be on the funding rate if the retirement age for the four directors and Mr Meghji was reduced to 60 with a full 2/3rds pension.  They also said that the, whilst the current provisions allowed for the deduction of the basic state pension, the new provision would be in addition to that benefit.  Heath also said that the Trustees were likely to equalise the Scheme retirement age at 65 and asked Scottish Widows to issue instructions/requirements.  Scottish Widows asked for clarification of the deduction of the basic state pension.  On 8 November 1993 Heath confirmed that the current limitation was to apply to all members except those for whom the NRA was being reduced.

19. Scottish Widows prepared a Statement to the Trustees in December 1993 in which they recommended a funding rate of 8.6% from 1 January 1994 if they reduced the retirement age to 60 and removed the deduction of the basic state pension for the named individuals.  Heath sent this to Mr Meghji on 17 January 1994, with a covering letter in which they explained that,

“…It would only become the funding rate that the Trustees should be paying if the benefit changes to which it relates, actually took place.  Thus, because Scottish Widows have not been informed of any changes since, the employer contribution holiday mentioned in Mr Ross’ report of December 1992 and repeated in his statement of the 11th May 1993, continues to apply.”

20. On 8 March 1994 Heath wrote to Mr Meghji,

“…Scottish Widows Statement to the Trustees dated 6th December 1993 outlined various changes which were to be made to the scheme and if these changes were effective from the renewal a funding rate of 8.6% should be applied.  Obviously the Trustees have accepted the amendments as outlined in the Statement and a funding rate of 8.6% is to be applied.  In order for Scottish Widows to mark their records accordingly an official acceptance of the Statement by the Trustees is required as confirmation that the benefit changes are to be accepted.  In this respect, it would be appreciated if you could please arrange for written confirmation to be forwarded to me.”

21. A written confirmation was sent to Heath on 10 March 1994, signed by Mr Mather.  This was forwarded to Scottish Widows on 16 March 1994.

22. On 29 April 1994 Heath sent Mr Meghji a draft Trustees’ Resolution and a Notice to Members regarding equalisation, which they said Scottish Widows had asked to be completed and returned.  On 5 May 1994 Heath sent Mr Meghji a further Trustees’ Resolution and Notices for members regarding the enhancements.  They asked that the place and date of the meeting be inserted into the resolution.  Heath also said that, due to the recent change in the funding rate, Scottish Widows had revised the Actuarial Statement to comply with the Disclosure of Information Regulations.  Heath said that this should be retained by the Trustees to form part of the next annual report.  On 17 May 1994 Mr Meghji wrote to Heath confirming that the Resolution on equalisation had been circulated to all the Trustees and that the Resolution about the augmentation had been sent to Mr Mather and would be circulated.  Mr Meghji sent the two resolutions to Heath on 20 July 1994.  They both referred to a meeting of the Trustees on 29 April 1994 and were signed by Mr Mather on behalf of the Company and certified as true copies by Mr Davey.  The Resolution stated,

“MINUTE of MEETING of the TRUSTEES of the SOCIAL SURVEYS (GALLOP POLL) LIMITED RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

held at 307 FINCHLEY RD LONDON NW3 6EH

on FRIDAY, 29TH APRIL 1994

RESOLVED that with effect from 1 January 1994:-

(1) The following alteration is made to the Rules:-

DEFINITIONS

The definition of “Normal Retiring Date” is cancelled and the following is substituted

““Normal Retiring Date” means the 65th birthday for Men and the 60th birthday for Women or such other date as is agreed between the Member and the Trustees with the consent of the Employer”

(2) In consequence of the Rule amendment in (1) above Page…is cancelled and is replaced with…”

23. The notice sent to Mr Dossett was signed by Mr Mather for the Trustees and said,

“The Trustees are pleased to confirm that with effect from 1 January 1994:-

(a) Your Normal Retiring Date will be your 60th birthday.

(b) Pensionable Salary means your salary calculated at 1 January in each year.  The amount equal to the basic State pension for a single person will not now be deducted in respect of pensionable service after 1 January 1978.”

24. On 16 November 1995 a meeting was held at which Mr Davey, Mrs Buckle, Mr Meghji and a representative from Heath were present.  On 20 November 1995 Heath wrote to the Scheme Actuary,

“I recently met with the Trustees of the above in order to discuss your Actuarial Valuation effective as at 1st January 1995.

Naturally, the Trustees are concerned by the increase in the recommended rate of future service contribution arising due to the provisions of the Pensions Act 1995, introducing indexation on pension benefit accruing subsequent to April 1997.

Amongst other things, we discussed ways of containing future costs and one suggestion which I made to the Trustees was to reduce the rate of pension accrual subsequent to April 1997…”

25. On 22 November 1995 Heath sent a copy of their notes from the meeting to Mr Davey.  The notes from the meeting record that the funding review as at 1 January 1995 was discussed ‘in some detail’.  The notes indicate that Heath drew the Trustees’ attention to the introduction of Limited Price Indexation, equalisation and the provisions of the Pensions Act 1995.  It was noted that Scottish Widows had required confirmation as to the date from which they should regard future service pension accrual for both males and females as attracting a Normal Retirement Age of 65.  It was agreed that the date of equalisation at age 65 should be regarded as being 15 March 1991.  The notes also state,

“…The Trustees recognised the significant increase in the recommended rate of contribution and a discussion ensued as to ways of containing such costs.  In particular, [Heath] suggested the possibility of reducing the rate of future service pension accrual from 1.5% of final pensionable salary to, say, either 1.25% or 1%.  To this end, [Heath] agreed to write to the Scottish Widows’ actuary seeking guidance as to the appropriate recommended rates.

Further, the Trustees discussed the possibility of the increased rates of contribution being shared between both the members and the employer, rather than being borne exclusively by the employer…”

26. On 24 November 1995 Mr Davey recorded a telephone conversation with Heath in which he thanked them for the meeting notes, which he ‘much appreciated’ and which had been distributed to ‘the interested parties’.

Funding Reviews

27. The Funding Review as at 1 January 1995, dated September 1995, states,

“…The last funding review (as at 1 January 1992) recommended an overall funding rate of 4.4% with effect from 1 January 1993.  However, following this funding review, the following changes were made to Directors benefits:-

(i) The normal retirement age was lowered to 60 for all pensionable service.

(ii) The deduction of Basic State Pension from pensionable salary for service after 1 January 1978 was removed.

The revised recommended funding rate following these changes was 8.6% with effect from 1 January 1994.  This rate, detailed in a Statement to the Trustees dated 6 December 1993, was split as follows...

In the event, the following overall funding rates were paid:-

(i) 1993 Scheme Year 10.3%

(ii) 1994 Scheme Year 8.5%

(iii) 1995 Scheme Year 8.6%

…The main benefits provided under the scheme are as follows:-

Normal retirement age… Directors: 60 for all service”

28. The Actuarial Valuation as at 1 January 1998 (dated June 1998) stated that the Normal Retirement Age was 65 but that female members could take benefits earned before 15 March 1991 at age 60 without actuarial reduction and male members could take benefits earned between 17 May 1990 and 15 March 1991 from age 60 without actuarial reduction.  The Valuation then states that the Normal Retirement Age for Directors is 60 for all service.  The fund was found to be in surplus and the Actuary’s recommended that no employer’s contributions were required for the following three years.

29. The Trustees have since confirmed that contributions were paid at the following rates; 9.7% (1996/7), 8.4% (1997) and 9.2% (1998/9).

Mr Dossett’s Retirement

30. Mr Dossett retired on 3 May 1998 and payment of his pension commenced on 1 June 1998.  On 4 June 1998 Heath wrote to the PA to the Finance Director at the Gallup Organisation enclosing a cheque for £40,740 in respect of Mr Dossett’s tax free cash sum.  They also enclosed a ‘Settlement Statement’ from Scottish Widows.  This showed Mr Dossett’s date of birth as 31 July 1944 and his Normal Retirement Date as 31 July 2004.  This letter was acknowledged on 15 June 1998.

Events following Mr Dossett’s Retirement

31. On 5 October 1998 Mr Davey wrote to Mr Mather,

“Please could you help me resolve the following matter.  The N.R.D.  (normal retirement date) and associated benefits for: …G.  Dossett… were changed but NO record of these changes exist in either of the Trustee files.

I therefore requested that Scottish Widows send me a facsimile of all communications received by them concerning this matter.  I have enclosed photostats of these documents and would appreciate some clarification.

It would appear that [the Company], (the Employer), pursued these changes but did not inform the Trustees, with the exception of yourself.

It is important that this is clarified and I would appreciate an early reply.

If necessary, I will request that [Heath] send copies of all communication between “the Employer” and themselves to give us a complete understanding of this matter.”

32. Mr Mather replied by e-mail on 7 October 1998,

“I’m not sure quite what your query is.  Documentation of the change will be in the Administrator’s files but feel free to contact [Heath] if you think anything is missing.

Also not sure what you mean by ‘either of the Trustee files’.  I always availed myself of the Administrators files if I needed anything as they were the most complete set of documents.  They were, and still are, available to the Trustees at all times.”

33. Mr Davey responded by e-mail on 9 October 1998,

“The query is: where did the authorisation come from as it didn’t go through the trustees.

The two trustees files are [Mrs Buckle’s] and mine which hold copies of all correspondence…”

34. On 26 November 1998 Mr Davey sent an e-mail to Mr Mather about an emergency Trustees’ meeting.  He said,

“Certain information has come to my attention which requires an urgent meeting of the Trustees.  The meeting will be held on Friday 4th December at 6:30pm at a venue to be decided by mutual agreement of the three Trustees.

AGENDA

1. Possible irregularities in enhancements for certain senior executives given in Jan – Mar 1994

2. …

3. Possible “winding-up” of Scheme by the Gallup Organisation…”

35. Mr Mather responded,

“Happy to attend a meeting – can make the 6th.

Assume we will have a drink so happy to meet anywhere accessible by train.

Stan your agenda is a bit enigmatic – could you let me know what you are thinking of.

Has the Company indicated that it wishes to wind up the scheme? It can, of course, close down the scheme any time it wishes – we can’t stop that – but we can ensure the members obtain the maximum benefit whilst the company doesn’t gain out of it…”

36. A Trustees’ Meeting was held on 4 December 1998, Those present at the meeting were Mr Mather, Mr Davey and Mrs Buckle.  There was subsequently some dispute as to the accuracy of the minutes.  According to the Trustees, Mr Davey prepared a draft minute which read,

“[Mr Mather] stated that there were no irregularities in enhancements made to senior executives during Jan-Mar 1994 as the Board of Directors could “do what they liked” in enhancing their own pensions or anybody else’s.  It was confirmed that the Trustees (excluding [Mr Mather]) had no knowledge of this matter and, as the Board of Directors had dealt directly with Heath Consulting (formerly C.E.  Heath Financial Services), no correspondence had been circulated to them.  [Mr Davey] requested permission to seek legal advice concerning the validity of this situation as he felt that his position as a Trustee had been compromised.  This was agreed.”

37. The Trustees say that Mr Mather then prepared a revised version of the Minutes, which was circulated to the other Trustees.  This read,

“Agenda 1.  Possible irregularities in the enhancement to senior executives given in Jan – Mar 1994

In early 1994 the Board of Gallup, enhanced the pension entitlement of all Board members and the Company Secretary.  The enhancement was that of reducing pensionable age from 65 down to 60.

C E Heath were instructed to implement the change with Scottish Widows.  The change was implemented as per instructions and the Board ensured the funding was adequate to support the enhancements.  Since that time all parties to the decision, and beneficiaries of that decision, have left the Company.  They are drawing their pensions from the Scheme or have Preserved Benefits in the Scheme.

[Mr Davey] claims he had no knowledge of the enhancement and [Mrs Buckle] says that she knew about the Directors but not the Company Secretary.  [Mr Mather], as Board Director and 20% shareholder at the time was party to the decision.  [Mr Davey] believes his position as a trustee has been compromised and wished to take legal advice on the matter.  [Mr Mather] stated that the Company was perfectly within its rights to enhance pensions for selected individuals and had acted perfectly properly.  [Mr Davey] disagreed.”

38. I am told that the Trustees kept no minute book and that there is no resolution showing which version was adopted as a true record.

39. Mrs Buckle sent an e-mail to Mr Davey on 15 December 1998 saying that she ‘categorically’ denied that she had any knowledge of the enhancement of anyone’s pension.  Mr Mather responded to Mrs Buckle’s e-mail on 16 December 1998, “Sorry Tricia I must have misunderstood you.”

40. On 11 December 1998 Scottish Widows wrote to OPRA regarding a possible breach of trust.  The writer said,

“I have reason to be concerned that the above scheme may not be operating in accordance with the trust deed and rules.  It has come to my attention that the rules of the scheme were changed on the instructions of a trustee resulting in an augmentation of his own benefits without the knowledge of the other trustees.  The trustees are now taking legal action about this possible breach of trust.  It is alleged that the trustee did not pass on advice from the actuary addressed to the trustees.”

41. On 13 October 2000 Mr Mather was removed as trustee, at his request, and Law Debenture were appointed.

42. The next Trustees’ meeting was held on 19 October 2000.  The minutes of this meeting noted that Mr Davey had sought legal advice in January 1999 and had approached both OPRA and the Police.  The Trustees’ solicitors were asked to investigate the enhancements and whether Scottish Widows could be pursued for accepting instructions without due authority.  There was a further Trustees’ meeting in November 2000.  The Summary provided for this meeting states that Mr Davey was alerted to the 1994 augmentations only in 1998 when he was provided with copies of correspondence dating from 1993 and 1994 between Scottish Widows and Heath.  It also states that neither Mr Davey or Mrs Buckle remembered seeing references to the enhancements in any actuarial valuation reports or in the annual report and accounts.

43. There were a number of subsequent meetings at which the Trustees discussed the question of the enhancements.  The minutes of their meeting on 16 May 2001 noted that £40,740 had been paid into the Scheme by the Company.

44. On 24 July 2001 Law Debenture wrote to Mr Dossett informing him that it had come to the Trustees’ notice that there may have been irregularities in the manner in which his benefits had been enhanced.  They said that the Trustees were concerned that, since the enhancements were never brought to their attention, they were ineffective and his benefits may have been miscalculated.  Mr Dossett was informed that the Trustees had a duty to pay the correct benefits from the Scheme and therefore had to investigate the matter.  Mr Dossett was asked to provide details of any knowledge he had of the circumstances of the enhancements.  He was also told that, if the enhancements were found to be ineffective, his pension would be reduced by £7,500 to £8,000 per annum.  Mr Dossett sent Law Debenture an extract from the 1995 Funding Review (see paragraph 27).  On 30 July 2001 Law Debenture wrote to Mr Dossett,

“…In our conversations you have stated that this matter would have been considered by the Board of the Company, however as I indicated to you we have no information as to this occurring, neither do we have any papers which indicate that this was considered by the Trustees, as required by the Rules…”

45. Mr Mather wrote to Law Debenture on 30 August 2001,

“The process of arranging the implementation of the changes was probably quite informal – as would have been customary at that time.  The board discussed the enhancement either at a board meeting or after our regular Monday morning planning meeting and, as director who looked after the pension fund, I would have been asked to contact C E Heath.  I would have telephoned Heaths asking them to assess the implications… Heaths’ reply indicated a minor adjustment to funding rate but mentioned no impediment to the enhancement.  The board agreed the minor adjustment to the funding rate for the following year…

As a director and trustee, I believed, and still believe, that everything related to this matter was handled correctly.  At all times we acted under advisement from C E Heath and Scottish Widows, and at no time were we informed that anything had been done incorrectly or improperly.  If we had been so informed, we should have taken action to solve the problem.  We would also have had absolutely no reason to do anything other than act correctly and properly.  The directors owned 100% of the equity of the company that sponsored the scheme.  We had ensured that the scheme was properly funded and that no members would be disadvantaged by our enhancement…”

46. On 21 December 2001 Mr Dossett was informed that the Trustees were satisfied that the enhancements had not been paid in accordance with the governing provisions of the Scheme.  He was told that his pension would be reduced to £20,423.52 per annum (a reduction of £6,578.26 per annum).  Mr Dossett appealed against this decision through the Scheme’s Internal Dispute Resolution (IDR) procedure.  The Trustees’ upheld their decision at stage two of IDR.

47. The Trustees resolved to terminate the Scheme with effect from 30 September 2001 and it is now being wound up.

Mr Dossett’s Position

48. According to Mr Dossett, he and his fellow directors had decided in 1993 to enhance their pensions.  He has provided a statement from Mr Wybrow in which he says,

“Further to this morning’s conversation regarding the Gallup Pension Scheme, I would like to confirm my memory that the directors decided on the augmentations in mid-1993 and that in the following October it was decided to include [Mr Meghji] in the augmentations.  As I believe we have already pointed out, the directors met during the morning of most Mondays and that the Scheme could easily have been discussed at one or more of these meetings; much of what was discussed was, of course, never minuted.”

49. Mr Dossett has also provided a statement from Mr Meghji in which he explains,

“As a pension scheme secretary I dealt with day-to-day matters.  Membership and pension records were updated annually to take account of new members, leavers, salary changes etc.  Pension contributions were calculated and deducted from members’ salaries and pension premiums were paid to Scottish Widows.  Most of the correspondence from C E Heath and Scottish Widows was sent to me and I generally dealt with all queries and routine matters.  Documents like Statements to Trustees, triennial reviews or ones requiring trustee signatures were circulated to the Trustees in the internal mail.  There were not many formal meetings.  I kept records of all the correspondence, documents, trust deeds and minute book in my office.”

50. In their letter of 5 March 2002 to the Trustees’ solicitors, Mr Dossett’s solicitors asked why the Trustees did not pass a confirmatory resolution to give effect to the 1994 decision.  They cited case law
 in which it was said that the Court would be averse to the frustration of bona fide transactions by technical points which passed unperceived by all concerned at the time.  Mr Dossett’s solicitors also suggested that the Trustees might be prevented from reducing Mr Dossett’s pension by an estoppel by convention
 or by an estoppel by representation.  In their letter, they referred to Mr Dossett’s annual benefit statements, an Illustration of Retirement Benefits and the Settlement Statement, which had all, since, 1994, shown his normal retirement age to be 60.  Mr Dossett’s solicitors said that his decision to accept the severance package and not to seek other employment was influenced ‘in no small part’ by his belief that he was entitled to the higher pension.

51. Mr Dossett says that he based his future plans on the expectation that he would receive the pension indicated in his annual statements.  He says he decided in 1998 not to look for any further employment on the basis of his expected pension.  Mr Dossett says he has been in receipt of the higher pension for four years and has geared his lifestyle to a certain level of income.

Mr Dossett’s Claim for Legal Expenses

52. Mr Dossett believes he should receive reimbursement for legal expenses he has incurred.. He has explained that in August 2001 he and three of his colleagues engaged Halliwell Landau to deal with the matter and that the invoices were in Mr Mather’s name, with Mr Dossett paying a quarter share.  This amounted to £1,075.42 but he does not have the invoices to support this.  Mr Dossett engaged HamlinSs at the beginning of 2002, while the other three continued to be represented by Halliwell Landau.  He has provided copies of invoices from HamlinS amounting to £12,988.15, including £5,228.75 for Counsel’s opinion.

53. Mr Dossett has asserted that his legal costs would have been at least double this, if he had not carried out a lot of the work himself.  According to Mr Dossett, the collating of documents, preparation of files for Counsel, photocopying and supplying lever arch files was his own work.  However, he believes that without the professional help he would not have been able to progress his case.

The Trustees’ Position

54. It is the opinion of the Trustees that the enhancements were not validly authorised.  They say that they have been unable to locate a Trustees’ resolution or evidence of approval from the Company.  According to the Trustees, the Board Minutes from the period 1993 to 1994 make no reference to enhancements, except for some consideration of offering certain long serving employees two-thirds pensions.  Mr Davey and Mrs Buckle say that they have no recollection of being informed at any time of any enhancements.  They say that they only became aware of the enhancements in 1998.  Mr Davey and Mrs Buckle say that the meeting on 16 November 1995 focused on the future cost implications for the Scheme.

55. According to the Trustees, even if there was a Trustee resolution, there was no company consent.  They say that the resolution dated 29 April 1994 cannot have been passed on that date because the draft resolutions were not sent out until 5 May 1994.  The Trustees also state that 60% of the Company’s shares were acquired by the current owner on 5 May 1994 and they have made it clear that consent would not have been forthcoming.  They have referred to case law
, which, they submit, establishes that, in order to be valid, a variation to the Rules must comply with the formal requirements of the Definitive Deed and Rules.

56. The solicitors argue that what is lacking in the present case is not just a technicality but a formal material requirement.  They argue that the effect of the amendment requirements not being followed was that there was no consideration to the appropriateness of using the surplus to benefit some members of the scheme over others with the result that the pension scheme was used simply as a tool for improving the executive benefit package.  

57. The solicitors say that neither of the contemporaneous notes of the meeting of 4 December 1988 evidences that that there was agreement at the meeting.  They submit that in accepting Mrs Buckle’s amendments to the minute he had drafted, Mr Mather was acknowledging that neither of the other Trustees was aware of the augmentations.  

58. The Trustees are of the opinion that the factual basis for estoppel cannot be made out.  They point out that the estoppel argument was not raised before Mr Dossett’s benefits were reduced nor persisted with at stage two of IDR.  The Trustees also refer to the letter from the President, International Operations, of the Gallup Organisation.  In this letter, dated 22 August 2002, he states,

“The former directors of [the Company], including Mr Dossett, continued to be employed by Gallup-UK upon the successful completion of the acquisition… However, all of the former directors were asked to leave Gallup-UK prior to the completion of their employment contracts because of poor performance.  Gallup continued to pay all amounts due as compensation for the remainder of each of the employment contracts, but, in no event, would the employment contract for any director have been renewed or negotiated to provide for a more generous severance package.”

59. The Trustees also refer to the letter from Mr Dossett’s solicitors in which they said that his decision to accept the severance package and not to seek other employment was influenced ‘in no small part’ by his belief that he was entitled to the higher pension.  The Trustees say that the benefit statements on which Mr Dossett seeks to rely on were not intended to create entitlements which are not justified under the Rules of the Scheme.  They agree that the statements detail the level of benefit payable but say that they do not state that an enhancement has been granted.

60. The Trustees do not agree that it would be inequitable to reduce Mr Dossett’s pension because;

· The alleged estoppel would allow the Scheme to be governed by the benefit statements when those statements made it clear that the member’s entitlement was governed by the Rules of the Scheme,

· No steps have been taken to recover the historic overpayment of approximately £28,000, and

· The effect of the unauthorised enhancements would be to appropriate to a small class of member some £470,000 (as at July 2001), which could otherwise be distributed pro rata amongst the membership as a whole together with the balance of the existing surplus, currently estimated to be £1 million.

61. The Trustees submit that the case law
 establishes that for an action based on estoppel, to succeed there must have been a course of dealing or an act by the member based on the allegedly agreed assumption; they submit that neither passive acceptance of a position not receipt of payments on an assumed basis is enough.  They consider the benefit statements Mr Dossett has referred to is no more than passive acceptance and receipt of the augmented benefits themselves to be insufficient.

62. On the question of distress and inconvenience, the Trustees say that Mr Dossett could have reduced his expenses by making use of the pensions advisory service, OPAS, instead of engaging solicitors.  Whilst they accept that Mr Dossett will have been distressed to discover that his pension may not have been calculated correctly, the Trustees say the investigations they undertook before taking action were designed to reduce this distress.  They also point to the fact that they have not sought to recover any historic overpayments.

63. The Trustees have referred me to the minutes of the meeting on 26 March 2002 between their solicitor and a representative of Heath.  The minutes state,

“Since … had indeed attended the meeting on 16 November, 1995 and produced notes of the proceedings, [the solicitor] explained that he wished to explore the events surrounding this meeting in some further detail…

[The solicitor] was keen to discuss further the deliberations of the Trustees over the valuation report produced by Scottish Widows as at 1 January 1995.  In particular, whether the meeting had discussed the benefit augmentations which were mentioned in the valuation report by Scottish Widows.  The meeting notes produced by … made no mention of any such discussion and … was unable to recall this having been discussed.  Accordingly, his conclusion was that no such discussion had taken place … suggested that, since according to the valuation report the augmentations had been concluded, he would have regarded this as a matter of fact and instead have highlighted future developments and costs…”

64. According to the Trustees, the effect of the amendment requirements not being followed was that there was no consideration of the appropriateness of using surplus to benefit some members of the scheme over others with the result that the pension scheme was used as a tool for improving the executive benefit package.  They refer to Mr Mather’s comments in his minutes of the meeting on 4 December 1998 (see paragraph 37) and his letter to Law Debenture of 30 August 2001 (see paragraph 45).  The Trustees say that following Mr Davey’s letter of 5 October 1998 and the subsequent e-mails, his concerns had been clearly identified.  They say that there was amply opportunity for Mr Mather to state unequivocally that the augmentations had been approved by the Trustees but he failed to do so.

65. The Trustees state that the surplus has been used to meet the cost of the augmentation.  The effect , they say, was to reduce the surplus from approximately £450,000 in January 1993 to approximately £220,000 in January 1995.  They argue that the surplus was not the product of the increased contribution because those contributions only related to the cost of future service benefits.  The Trustees therefore argue that it was incorrect of Mr Mather to say that the Company had ensured that the scheme was properly funded with no member disadvantaged by the augmentations.

CONCLUSIONS

66. The Trustees have drawn my attention to the fact that Mr Dossett was not the only member to receive an enhancement of benefits at this time.  I have taken this into account but in this determination I am limiting myself to establishing his benefits and the legitimacy, or otherwise, of the enhancement to those benefits.

67. There are two key questions to be answered: 

· whether a legitimate change to the rules took place; and 

· whether the Trustees are prevented by estoppel from reducing Mr Dossett’s pension.

68. The Rules provide for the Trustees to alter all or any of the rules, with the written consent of the Company, by Resolution or Deed, provided that, inter alia, benefits already earned by members are not adversely affected and that the main purpose of the Scheme is not altered.  

69. Mr Dossett has provided a copy of a Trustees’ Resolution from a meeting on 29 April 1994 signed by Mr Mather for the Company and Mr Davey for the Trustees.  This amends the definition of ‘Normal Retiring Date’ to include ‘such other date as is agreed between the Member and the Trustees with the consent of the Employer’.  That change had no adverse effects on the benefits already earned by members.  Nor can I see that they affected the main purpose of the scheme.  

70. The Trustees say they have not found a Trustees’ Resolution which amends the Directors’ Normal retiring Date to 60 nor written consent from the Company for the change to the definition of Normal Retirement Date to which I have referred in the preceding paragraph.  So far as the latter point is concerned the principle set out in Bestrustees v Stuart seems to me to cover the situation.  There is evidence that the Company were at that time in agreement with the change and the change itself is evidenced in writing.  The Trustees say that there is no deed but, since the Rule in question refers to resolution or deed, this is irrelevant.

71. It would not be necessary for there to be a specific resolution as to what ‘other date’ was agreed between the Trustees and the Company in accordance with the Resolution to which I have referred to in paragraph 69.  So far as Mr Dossett is concerned he relies on an announcement dated April 1994 signed by Mr Mather for the Trustees, which notified him that his Normal Retiring Date would be his 60th birthday and that his final remuneration would not be reduced.  When the subsequent announcement is read together with the resolution the requirements as far as the Trustees are concerned are met.  Although there is a missing piece of the jigsaw (the Company’s written consent), it is relatively easy to discern from the available evidence that such consent would have been forthcoming.

72. While there is no evidence of the Trustees in April 1994 considering other ways of disposing of a possible surplus there is equally no evidence of this not being considered.  Moreover I doubt whether it is practicable to expect Trustees to consider individually the various courses of action which might theoretically be open to them before deciding to follow one such course.  As I have already noted there is no suggestion that by following the course they did and augmenting the benefit of some members they were jeopardising the accrued benefits of others.  

73. The Trustees have argued that the resolution cannot have been made on the 29 April 1994 because the drafts were not sent out until 5 May 1994.  They argue that by this time the current owner had acquired a majority shareholding and therefore would be required to agree to the augmentation.  However, the fact that the formal draft documents were sent to Mr Meghji in May 1994 does not mean that the Trustees had not already agreed the augmentation.  The draft document had a space for the date and place of the resolution to be written in.  Mr Davey, himself, certified the resolution as a true copy with the date of 29 April 1994, ie while the former director/owners were still the majority shareholders.

74. The Trustees have argued that Mr Mather was acting without the knowledge of the other trustees.  It is unfortunate that Mr Mather has since passed away and is therefore unable to counter this argument himself.  However, I find it extremely difficult to accept the assertions from Mr Davey and Mrs Buckle that they knew nothing of the enhancement before 1998.  They are asking me to believe that they had a meeting in November 1995 in which they discussed the January 1995 funding review ‘in some detail’ and did not notice the reference to the Normal Retiring Date for the Directors having changed.  Yet one of their specific concerns at that meeting was the funding of the Scheme and the contribution rate.  This is clear from the contemporaneous correspondence between Heath and the Scheme Actuary (see paragraph 27), to which I attach greater credence than recollections brought forward some seven years later.  The funding review makes clear reference to the change and states that the revised contribution rate following the changes is 8.6%.  It is reasonable to assume that Mr Davey and Mrs Buckle, as trustees, were aware of the contribution rate being paid.  As trustees, they should also have been aware of the reasons behind that contribution rate, particularly if they were discussing the funding of the Scheme.  There is no record of them questioning the contribution rate or the statement in the funding review regarding the retirement age for the Directors.  The conclusion I draw from this is that they did not question it because they were already aware of the enhancement.

75. The Trustees place great reliance on recollections and statements made in the years after the Resolution and announcement.  There is always the danger, in such circumstances, of speaking with the benefit of hindsight and recalling what the party concerned would prefer to have happened.. As to their comment that Mr Mather did not take the opportunity, in 1998, to state categorically that the Rules had been legitimately altered, it is equally possible that he saw no need to.  It is extremely difficult to know what Mr Mather’s views were because he is not here to present them himself.  His replies to Mr Davey’s ‘queries’ do not suggest someone who has been party to any illegitimate action.  Rather they suggest someone who is confident that all that has been done has been done legitimately and cannot understand what possible queries there might be.

76. The amendment to the Rules and the enhancement of the directors’ benefits involved considerable correspondence with Heath and Scottish Widows.  There was no obvious attempt to conceal these negotiations from Mr Davey or Mrs Buckle.  When Mr Davey raised concerns, Mr Mather referred him to the ‘Administrator’s’ file, which he said contained the most complete set of documents available.  Mr Davey was also invited to contact Heath, if he had any concerns.  There were no obstacles preventing Mr Davey and Mrs Buckle from being fully aware of the proposed enhancement to the directors’ benefits, if they so wished.

77. I find that there has been a legitimate change to the Rules of the Scheme with respect to the directors’ normal retiring age.  However, Mr Dossett’s retirement benefits were also calculated on the basis that there should be no reduction to his final remuneration equivalent to the basic state pension.  This was not covered by the Trustees’ Resolution dated 29 April 1994.

78. This brings me to consider the question of estoppel.  The general principle behind the doctrine of estoppel has been described thus
,

“When the parties to a transaction proceed on the basis of an underlying assumption – either of fact or law – whether due to misrepresentation or mistake makes no difference – on which they have conducted the dealings between them – neither of them will be allowed to go back on that assumption when it would be unfair or unjust to allow him to do so.”

79. The Trustees, the Company and Mr Dossett proceeded on the basis that his normal retiring age was 60 and that his final pensionable earnings would not suffer a deduction equivalent to the basic state pension for a single person.  This is the basis upon which his retirement benefits were calculated in 1998 and subsequently paid until the reduction imposed in 2001.  The amended retirement date was also quoted on annual benefit statements from 1994 onwards.  It was also the basis upon which the contribution rate was calculated and paid following the 1995 funding review.  The current owner of the Company has paid contributions on this basis and the Trustees have accepted contributions on this basis since 1995.  The Trustees argue that it would be wrong to allow the Scheme to be governed by the benefit statements when those statements made it clear that entitlement was governed by the Rules.  Nevertheless, the benefit statements (along with the funding reviews) provide a clear indication of the basis upon which the Trustees and the Company were proceeding as far as Mr Dossett’s benefits were concerned.  In addition, providing an enhanced pension does not itself contravene the Rules and is specifically provided for in Rule 4.15 (see paragraph 8).  I find that an estoppel by convention exists with regard to the pension already paid to Mr Dossett.

80. In reaching that view I have considered the case law referred to by the Trustees about the operation of the principle of estoppel in relation to pension schemes.  In Redrow PLC v Pedley the Court held that if parties to a contract, by their course of dealing, put a particular interpretation on the terms of it, on the faith of which each of them, to the knowledge of the other, acts and conducts their mutual affairs, they are bound by that interpretation just as much as if they had written it down as being a variation of the contract.  There is no need to enquire whether their particular interpretation is correct or not, or whether they were mistaken or not, or whether they had in mind the original terms or not.  If they have, by their course of dealing, put their own interpretation on their contract, they cannot be allowed to go back on it.  

81. A particular submission made in that case was whether there was a need to show that all members of a pension scheme had established the particular course of dealing The judge decided it would not be necessary to call evidence relating to each and every members’ intention, but said that it would be necessary to provide evidence that the principle applied to the general body of members.  I need to bear in mind that the point at issue in that case was what benefits were to be included as within the term final remuneration, an interpretation which would potentially affect all members of the scheme.  That is a different context than the issues raised in connection with Mr Dossett where the matter at issue affected only those members for whom the normal retirement age was being reduced (as Heath described the situation see paragraph 18).  I note that the Judge in Redrow PLC v Pedley doubted whether mere receipt of benefit or payment of contributions could be enough to establish the principle of estoppel but observe that there is more in the evidence before me than such mere receipt.  

82. The Trustees did not notify Mr Dossett of their disagreement as to whether state benefit should be deducted until some three years after his retirement.  For the Trustees now to seek to go back on the interpretation of the announcement, which the Trustees and Mr Dossett had acted upon cannot be right

83. The Trustees argue that to allow the directors to receive their benefits on the basis of a retirement age of 60 would result in some £470,000 being ‘appropriated’ to this small class of members.  They argue that, otherwise, it could be distributed pro rata to the rest of the membership along with the balance of the surplus.  The Trustees are critical of the use of Scheme surplus to enhance the Directors’ benefits and suggest that no consideration was given to the appropriateness of such action.  It is not unusual for directors or other executives of a company to be offered an enhanced benefit package, either within the main scheme or through a top-up scheme.  Correspondence between Heath and the Scheme Actuary at the time suggests that this whole question was sparked by the healthy funding position of the Scheme.   

84. I observe that the Scheme has received contributions on the basis that the directors, including Mr Dossett, would receive benefits on the basis of a retirement age of 60.  The current surplus is, at least in part, a by product of that contribution rate and therefore includes provision for the higher benefits.

85. The Trustees have argued that their decision not to seek to recover any ‘overpayment’ of Mr Dossett’s pension is adequate compensation for any distress and inconvenience he may have suffered as a consequence of the reduction of his pension.  Since I find that Mr Dossett had a legitimate right to this pension, it can hardly be described as compensation.  However, I am inclined to take the view that, since Mr Dossett will continue to receive his due pension from the Scheme, it is unnecessary for me to direct payment of further compensation.  Nor am I persuaded that I should regard his decision to enlist legal assistance as a consequence of injustice arising from maladministration.  I have taken into account that there would have been much less room for argument had there been a better standard of administration of both the pension scheme and the keeping of company records and Mr Dossett shares some responsibility for this.

DIRECTIONS

86. I now direct that the Trustees shall, within 28 days of the date hereof, reinstate Mr Dossett’s pension at the higher rate and pay him arrears plus simple interest at the rate currently quoted by the reference banks.

DAVID LAVERICK

Pensions Ombudsman

31 October 2003
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